Siyi Lin

The Law of Unjust Enrichment in China: Necessary or Not?





China-EU Law Series

Volume 8

Editors-in-Chief

Fei Liu, China-EU School of Law, Beijing, China Hinrich Julius, University of Hamburg, Hamburg, Germany

Series Editors

China-EU School of Law, At the China University of Political Science and Law, China-EU School of Law, Beijing, China

Björn Ahl, University of Cologne, Cologne, Germany

Ronald Monty Silley, China-EU School of Law, Beijing, China

Tianshu Zhao, China-EU School of Law, Beijing, China

A peer-reviewed book series in which Chinese law, comparative China-EU law, legal relations, international law and human rights related to China and the EU are the central focus. The books include introductory monographs on (domains of) Chinese law, advanced studies of Chinese law, edited volumes and monographs on comparative China-EU issues or on EU legal aspects also of relevance to China, and books on international law and human rights, with a focus on China and the EU. The books are published in English under the auspices of the China-EU Law School in Beijing (www.cesl.edu.cn).

The Law of Unjust Enrichment in China: Necessary or Not?



Siyi Lin Faculty of Law The Chinese University of Hong Kong Hong Kong SAR, Hong Kong

This work was supported by The Chinese University of Hong Kong.

ISSN 2198-2708 ISSN 2198-2716 (electronic) China-EU Law Series ISBN 978-3-031-06177-6 ISBN 978-3-031-06178-3 (eBook) https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-06178-3

 \odot The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are solely and exclusively licensed by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, expressed or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

This Springer imprint is published by the registered company Springer Nature Switzerland AG The registered company address is: Gewerbestrasse 11, 6330 Cham, Switzerland

Acknowledgements

This book builds on my four-year PhD project completed at the Faculty of Law, The Chinese University of Hong Kong. First and foremost, I thank my supervisor, Prof. Lutz-Christian Wolff, for all his contributions of time and invaluable ideas, which made this research possible. I am so thankful for his guidance, suggestions, and encouragements that mean a lot to me. Special thanks go to my co-supervisors Prof. Mimi Zou and Prof. Steven Gallagher. Prof. Zou was the person who inspired my interest in the law of unjust enrichment in the first place. Prof. Gallagher joined my supervisory team at the beginning of the third year and his advice and input helped me proceed through the doctoral program.

I feel a special debt of gratitude to Prof. Elise Bant at Melbourne Law School who read the draft of my thesis and kindly gave me invaluable and inspiring comments.

I am very thankful to other professors, co-workers, and friends for their support, help, and encouragement during my PhD journey. These include Prof. Anatole Boute, Prof. Gregory Gordon, Prof. Jyh-An Lee, Prof. Michelle Miao, Prof. Jae Woon Lee, Prof. Chao Xi, Prof Robin Huang, Qian Xu, Qing Zhang, Chunyang Zhang, Jenny Ying Chan, Becky Leung, Wang Chao, and Hui Jing. I also want to express my special thanks to Henry You for his encouragement and support over these years.

Finally, I thank my family, my parents, Lin Jiasheng and Lin Rong for their love, selfless support, and inspiration which were my driving force. I hope my completion of the book makes them proud.

Contents

1	Introduction				
	1.1	Background and Research Questions			
	1.2	Demarcation of the Research Area			
	1.3	Research Contribution			
	1.4	Research Methodologies			
		1.4.1 Overview			
		1.4.2 Doctrinal Research			
		1.4.3 Comparative Research			
		1.4.4 Cases Studies			
	1.5	Book Structure			
	Case	s			
	Refe	rences			
2	Teri	ninology			
_	2.1	General 15			
	2.2	Unjust Enrichment and Restitution			
		2.2.1 Overview			
		2.2.2 Unjust Enrichment			
		2.2.3 Restitution			
		2.2.4 The Relationship Between Restitution and Unjust			
		Enrichment			
	2.3	Enrichment			
		2.3.1 Overview			
		2.3.2 Value			
		2.3.3 Wealth			
		2.3.4 Benefit, Gain and Enrichment			
	2.4	Related Terminology			
		2.4.1 'Restitution' and 'Disgorgement'			
		2.4.2 'Unjustified Enrichment' and 'Unconscionable			
		Enrichment'			

viii Contents

		2.4.3	Performance-Based Unjust Enrichment and	
			Non-Performance-Based Unjust Enrichment	23
		2.4.4	'Defendant' and 'Claimant'	24
	2.5	Concl	usion	24
	Refe	rences.		25
3	The	Cool(c) of the Law of Unjust Enrichment in China	27
3	3.1		alal	27
	3.2		uction to the Chinese Legal System	28
	3.2	3.2.1	China's Legal System During the Mao Era	28
		3.2.2	The Chinese Legal System After 1979	29
		3.2.3	Sources of the Current Chinese Law	30
	3.3		uction to Chinese Civil Law	32
	3.3	3.3.1	Overview	32
		3.3.2	The GPCL, General Provisions and the Chinese	32
		3.3.2	Civil Code	33
		3.3.3	Chinese Property Law	35
		3.3.4	Excursus: Causality and Abstraction in Chinese Law	37
		3.3.5	Chinese Contract Law	39
		3.3.6	Chinese Tort Law	40
	3.4		origin and Development of Unjust Enrichment in China	41
	3.4	3.4.1	Overview	41
		3.4.2	Ancient China	41
		3.4.3	In the Late Qing Dynasty	42
		3.4.4	In the Republic of China	44
		3.4.5	The Law of Unjust Enrichment in the PRC Prior to the	
		3.4.3	Enactment of the <i>Chinese Civil Code</i>	46
		3.4.6	Summary	52
	3.5		's Current Law of Unjust Enrichment	52
	3.3	3.5.1	Overview	52
		3.5.2	The Current Effective Legal Provisions of Unjust	32
		3.3.2	Enrichment	53
		3.5.3	Constitutive Elements of Unjust Enrichment	55
		3.5.4	Liability for Unjust Enrichment	60
		3.5.5	The Law of Unjust Enrichment as Part of the Chinese	00
		3.3.3	Legal System	66
	3.6	The G	toals of the Chinese Law of Unjust Enrichment	77
	5.0	3.6.1	Overview	77
		3.6.2	Statutory Law	78
		3.6.3	Commentators	80
		3.6.4	Case Law	87
		3.6.5	Conclusion	117
	Dofo		Convincion	110

Contents ix

4	Do V	We Need	d a Chinese Law of Unjust Enrichment?	125
	4.1		1	125
	4.2	Probler	ms Generated by the Regulation of Unjust Enrichment	126
	4.3	Core S	cenarios of Unjust Enrichment	128
		4.3.1	Overview	128
		4.3.2	Excursuses: Basics of Other Subject Areas	129
		4.3.3	Performance-Based Unjust Enrichment	135
		4.3.4	Non-Performance-Based Unjust Enrichment	150
		4.3.5	Summary	167
	4.4	Review	· /	168
		4.4.1	Overview	168
		4.4.2	Mistaken Payments of Money	168
		4.4.3	Unsolicited Services Supplied Mistakenly	170
		4.4.4	Money Transferred or Services Provided in Anticipation	
			of a Future Contract	171
		4.4.5	Unauthorized Use of Another's Property with No	
			Damages Incurred or Losses Suffered by the Owner	171
	4.5	Conclu	sion	172
	Refe	rences.		173
5	Con	manativ	e Study: The English Law of Unjust Enrichment	177
3	5.1	_	l	177
	5.2		action to the English Legal System	178
	3.2	5.2.1	Overview	178
		5.2.1	Sources of Law in England	178
		5.2.3	Common Law and Equity	179
	5.3		ntroduction to English Private Law	181
	5.5	5.3.1	Overview	181
		5.3.2	The English Law of Contract	181
		5.3.3	The Law of Property	185
		5.3.4	Tort Law	190
		5.3.5	Trusts	193
		5.3.6	Tracing and Following	195
	5.4		of the English Law of Unjust Enrichment	198
	5.5		ements of Claims in Unjust Enrichment	204
	5.5	5.5.1	Overview	204
		5.5.2	Enrichment	204
		5.5.3	At the Expense of the Plaintiff	211
		5.5.4	Unjust Factors	211
		5.5.5	Justifying Ground	212
		5.5.6	Defences	226
		5.5.7	Remedies	229
	5.6		www of Unjust Enrichment in English Private Law	230
	5.0	1 ne La 5.6.1	The Current Status of the Law of Unjust Enrichment	230
		J.0.1	The Current Status of the Law of Unjust Efficientent	<i>43</i> 0

x Contents

		5.6.2	Controversies over the Independence of the Law	
			of Unjust Enrichment	232
		5.6.3	Summary	239
	5.7	The G	Goals of the English Law of Unjust Enrichment	240
		5.7.1	Overview	240
		5.7.2	Conscience and Justice	240
		5.7.3	Reversal of Benefits	243
		5.7.4	Filling Gaps	244
		5.7.5	Summary	246
	5.8	Summ	nary of Comparative Observations	248
	5.9	Concl	usion	252
	Refe	erences .		252
6	Pro	nocale f	for the Future of the Chinese Law of Unjust	
U		-	tt.	257
	6.1		al	257
	6.2		Ways Forward	257
	6.3			
	0.5	6.3.1	Overview	259 259
		6.3.2	Mistaken Payments of Money	260
		6.3.3	Unsolicited Services Supplied Mistakenly	268
		6.3.4	Money Transferred or Services Provided in Anticipation	200
		0.011	of a Future Contract	274
		6.3.5	Unauthorized Use of Another's Property with No	
		0.0.0	Damages Incurred or Losses Suffered by the Owner	277
	6.4	Concl	usion	281
	٠			282
7	Fina	al Rema	arks	283

About the Author

Siyi Lin is currently a lawyer at Fangda Partners in China. She holds a PhD and an LLM from The Chinese University of Hong Kong and an LLB from China University of Political Science and Law. Her research focuses on civil law, trust law, and commercial law, particularly on the law of unjust enrichment. Her recent publications include "The Translation of Quistclose Trusts in China" (with Hui Jing) *Journal of Equity* 15 (2021), pp 153–180; "Looking Back and Thinking Forward: the Current Round of Civil Law Codification in China" *The International Lawyer* 52 (3) 2019, pp 439–467; "The History of a Mystery: the Evolution of the Law of Unjust Enrichment in Germany, England and China" (with Lutz-Christian Wolff and Steve Gallagher), International Comparative, Policy & Ethics Law Review 3 (2) 2020, p. 337–381; and "China's New Charity Law: A New Era of Charitable Trusts" *Trustse & Trustees* 24 (8) 2018, pp 768–777.

Abbreviations

CFI Court of First Instance
CPC Communist Party of China
CSI Court of Second Instance
NPC National People's Congress

NPCSC Standing Committee of National People's Congress

PC People's Congress

PCSC Standing Committees of People's Congress

PRC People's Republic of China

SPC Supreme People's Court of the People's Republic of China SPP Supreme People's Procurator of the People's Republic of China

Chapter 1 Introduction



1.1 Background and Research Questions

The law of unjust enrichment, sometimes known as the law of restitution, is among the most debated private law subjects in many jurisdictions and is regarded as one of the most complicated of all areas of law. Generally, the law of unjust enrichment provides rules, under which if one is enriched without a legal ground or as a result of certain 'unjust factors', the party suffering a loss therefrom is entitled to recover what has been lost.

In China,⁴ the law of unjust enrichment has not received much attention from lawmakers, academia and legal practitioners. For the past several decades, the statutory framework concerning unjust enrichment was rather simple. Only one legal provision, i.e. Article 122 of the *General Provisions of the Civil Law of the People's Republic of China* ('General Provisions')⁵ and previously Article 92 of the

¹Percy Winfield once described unjust enrichment or restitution as 'no man's land... not in the sense that there are constant battles for it, but that nobody wants it'. Winfield (1931), p. 118; See also Burrows (2004), p. 14.

²Civilian and mixed systems, e.g. Germany, Scotland, South Africa and China, commonly have organized their laws of unjust enrichment based on the 'absence of basis' approach. Canada, as a common law jurisdiction, recently shifted to the 'absence of basis' approach as well. *Garland v Consumer's Gas Co.*, [2004] 1 SCR 629.

³Common law jurisdictions adopting the 'unjust factors' approach to unjust enrichment include England, the USA and Australia.

⁴In this book, 'China' and 'Mainland China' are used to refer only to the People's Republic of China, excluding Macau Special Administrative Region, Hong Kong Special Administrative Region and Taiwan Region.

⁵Zhonghua Renmin Gongheguo Minfa Zongze (中华人民共和国民法总则) [General Provisions of the Civil Law of the People's Republic of China] (Promulgated by the National People's Congress ('NPC') on 15 March 2017, effective since 1 October 2017, expired on 1 January 2021). When promulgated in 2017, the *General Provisions* was designed to be incorporated into and become Book I of the *Chinese Civil Code* planned to be promulgated in 2020. Therefore, when

General Principles of Civil Law of the People's Republic of China ('GPCL'),⁶ sets out the general principle of unjust enrichment. Article 122 of the General Provisions stipulates, 'Where a person acquires unjust benefits without a legal basis, the person who so suffers a loss shall have the right to require him to return the unjust benefits'.⁷

In addition, one judicial interpretation issued by the Supreme People's Court of the PRC ('SPC') determines the extent of the return of enrichment acquired unjustly, i.e. Article 131 of the *Opinions of the SPC on Several Issues Concerning the Implementation of the General Principle of Civil Law of the People's Republic of China* ('Opinions on the GPCL').⁸ It stipulates, 'The returned unjust benefits shall include the original object and the fruits arising therefrom; other benefits obtained by using the enrichment obtained unjustly shall be taken over by the state after deducting the expenses of labour services overheads'.

These two articles constituted the entire statutory law of unjust enrichment in China since 1980s. Rules at such an abstract level obviously could not provide a comprehensive regulation of unjust enrichment and fail to give proper guidance in judicial practice. The abstractness of the law of unjust enrichment has also attracted a barrage of criticisms from academia. 9

The Chinese legislator seemed to be aware of problems existing in the law of unjust enrichment and intended to improve the current situation. When China finally passed its first-ever civil code since the establishment of the People's Republic of China ('PRC') on 28 May 2020, i.e., the *Chinese Civil Code of the PRC* ('Chinese

the *Chinese Civil Code of the People's Republic of China* comes into effect on 1 January 2021, the *General Provisions* was incorporated as Book I of the civil code and repealed simultaneously. See Liu (2020b). Zhonghua Renmin Gongheguo Minfa Dian (中华人民共和国民法典) [Civil Code of the People's Republic of China] (promulgated by the NPC on 28 May 2020, effective since 1 January 2021).

⁶Zhonghua Renmin Gongheguo Minfa Tongze (中华人民共和国民法通则) [General Principles of the Civil Law of the People's Republic of China] (promulgated by the NPC on 12 April 1986, effective since 1 January 1987, last amended on 27 August 2009, expired on 1 January 2021). For a discussion of the relationship between the *GPCL* and the *General Provisions*, see Sect. 3.3.2 in Chap. 3.

⁷ Article 92 of *the GPCL* regulates the concept of unjust enrichment in a similar way to Article 122 of the *General Provisions*, which stipulates, 'Where a person acquires unjust benefits without a legal basis and causes another's loss, the person shall return the unjust benefits to the person who suffers a loss'. For a more detailed account of the provision concerning unjust enrichment in the *GPCL*, see Sect. 3.4.5.5 in Chap. 3.

⁸ Zuigao Renmin Fayuan Guanyu Guanche Zhixing Zhonghua Renmin Gongheguo Minfa Tongze Ruogan Wenti De Yijian (Shixing) (最高人民法院关于贯彻执行《中华人民共和国民法通则》 若干问题的意见(试行)) [Opinions of the SPC on Several Issues Concerning the Implementation of the General Principles of Civil Law of the People's Republic of China (For Trial Implementation)] (promulgated by the SPC on 26 January 1988, effective since the same date, expired on 1 January 2021).

⁹E.g., Huo (2006), pp. 83 and 87; Tang (2013), p. 128.

Civil Code'), ¹⁰ the *General Provisions* is incorporated as Book I of the *Chinese Civil Code*. Therefore, Article 122 of the *General Provisions* introduced previously turns into Article 122 of the *Chinese Civil Code*, providing the general principle of unjust enrichment. In addition, one chapter concerning specific issues of unjust enrichment was added in the *Chinese Civil Code*, i.e., Chapter 29 of Book III Contract of the *Chinese Civil Code*. However, a more in-depth analysis reveals that the new unjust enrichment chapter, which consists of only four articles, is neither formulated after long deliberation nor comprehensive to tackle various problems existing in this field of law. Even though more attention has been paid to unjust enrichment after the promulgation of *Chinese Civil Code*, ¹¹ literature providing a detailed and comprehensive analysis of unjust enrichment is still limited. ¹² Moreover, a rather fundamental question, why the law of unjust enrichment is needed in the Chinese legal system in the first place, remains unanswered.

In contrast, vast academic ink has been spilt over the law of unjust enrichment and there has been an explosion of writings in the last two decades on this topic in many other jurisdictions, especially in England. ¹³ Unjust enrichment has been recognized as one of the three principal strands of the law of obligations alongside contract and tort in England. ¹⁴

Facing such an under-explored field of law in China, this book aims to first explore the goal(s) of the law of unjust enrichment in China to address the most fundamental issue of this area of law. The goals of an area of law are commonly understood as its objectives or purposes, which demonstrate why the area of law exists. The goals of an area of law influence decisively its explication and development. It is noteworthy that this book does not aim at any speculation regarding the thinking of the legislators as to the goal(s) of the law of unjust enrichment in China.

¹⁰Zhonghua Renmin Gongheguo Minfa Dian (中华人民共和国民法典) [Civil Code of the People's Republic of China] (promulgated by the NPC on 28 May 2020, effective since 1 January 2020).

¹¹Much academic ink has been spilt over the new Chinese law of unjust enrichment after the promulgation of the *Chinese Civil Code*. A few examples are listed here: Liu (2020a), p. 26; Chen (2020), p. 5; Wang (2020), p. 51.

¹²Legal textbooks on Chinese civil law usually contain a chapter introducing 'unjust enrichment'. For example, Jiang (2011); Wei (2007), pp. 592–598. However, there are still only a handful of comprehensive analyses of Chinese law of unjust enrichment. For details, see infra Sect. 3.6.3.1 in Chap. 3.

¹³Goff and Jones published their pioneer work, *The Law of Restitution*, in 1966 when the subject was barely known in England and its 9th edition *Goff and Jones: The Law of Unjust Enrichment* has been published in 2016. Goff and Jones (1966). Later, many other textbooks (notably, Peter Birks, *Unjust Enrichment*, Graham Virgo, *The Principles of the Law of Restitution* and Andrew Burrows, *A Restatement of the English Law of Unjust Enrichment*) and numerous collections of essays contributed to the development of the law of restitution and unjust enrichment. Birks (2005); Virgo (1999); Burrows (2012). The discussion of unjust enrichment also gave birth to a specialized academic journal, *Restitution Law Review*, which updates the latest information on the subject internationally.

¹⁴Banque Financière de la Cité v Parc (Battersea) Ltd [1999] 1 AC 221 (HL) 227; Johnston and Zimmermann (2002), pp. 8–9.

Instead, it tries to identify the goal(s) through rational analysis of the statutes and judgments. The ultimate question is whether the existence of a general law of unjust enrichment is justifiable given the goal(s) it intends to achieve within the Chinese legal system.

Specific questions explored by this book are as follows:

- What are and what should be the goal(s) of the law of unjust enrichment in China as compared to the English law of unjust enrichment?
- Does the current law of unjust enrichment in China achieve its goal(s)?
- Are there any problems caused by the current Chinese unjust enrichment legal framework?
- Can other branches of law achieve the goal(s) of the law of unjust enrichment in China?
- Is there a need for the law of unjust enrichment or reforming this law in China?
- How should the Chinese law of unjust enrichment develop in the future?

1.2 Demarcation of the Research Area

Unjust enrichment can occur in an incredibly wide range of circumstances and the law of unjust enrichment does not deal with many of the enrichment scenarios, which are seen as 'unjust' at first glance. For instance, the law of unjust enrichment usually does not mandate the return of property acquired through bribery or tax evasion, which is governed by other laws. The term 'restitution' is often referred to as a form of compensation, which is not only used in the law of unjust enrichment but also in criminal law, administrative law, etc. For the sake of a focused discussion, it is therefore necessary to first set out the scope of unjust enrichment discussed in this book.

Firstly, this book only explores unjust enrichment in the private law context. Private law refers to laws regulating the relationships among persons including natural persons and legal persons, i.e. entities, which are equal in terms of their legal status. ¹⁵ Contrarily, public law, e.g. criminal law, is concerned with the interactions between individuals and the state, and the interrelationships between individuals that are of concern to society. Under Chinese law, the acquisition of benefits without a legal basis may be regulated by both private law and public law. For example, one stealing another's property is enriched unjustly without a legal basis. Article 122 of the *Chinese Civil Code* entitles the owner to seek return of the property. Meanwhile, criminal law compels the thief to return the property and

¹⁵Chinese Civil Code, art 2.

punishes him if the conduct constitutes a theft crime. ¹⁶ This book will not consider unjust enrichment, restitution and other liabilities in public law.

In private law, the law of unjust enrichment is closely related to other fields of law, including contract law, tort law and property law. 17 The law of unjust enrichment is concerned with restitution of benefits acquired without a legal basis or as a result of an unjust factor, namely a process of gain-based recovery. ¹⁸ A contract is an agreement among equal parties concluded through mutual consent. 19 Benefits may be conferred under a void, revoked or terminated contract, which does not constitute a legal basis for retaining benefits, and restitution of such benefits is included in our discussion. Where a person obtains benefits through a tortious act at the cost of an injured person, the law of unjust enrichment and tort law may both demand that the defendant should disgorge the benefits acquired through the tortious act. 20 Cases of this kind are included in this study. If one retains another's property without a legal basis, the Chinese property law already involves straightforward restitutionary remedies to protect the owner's proprietary interests.²¹ The rules of property law also have an impact upon the law of unjust enrichment. For example, whether the researched jurisdiction adopts an abstract or causal approach regarding the transfer of ownership²² has a direct impact on the design of the law of unjust enrichment. The relevant aspects of property law are also covered by this study.

Secondly, to explore the goal(s) of the law of unjust enrichment, this book inevitably has to deal with the concepts of justice and fairness to some extent. However, this book does not involve itself in the task of exploring the philosophical foundations or the normative basis of unjust enrichment liabilities. Instead, this book is confined to a doctrinal analysis by reviewing the rules applicable in China as compared with the English law of unjust enrichment and also combining this exploration with judicial practices. It aims to deduce the goal(s) of the law of unjust enrichment from the doctrines rather than considering further whether the doctrines

¹⁶Zhonghua Renmin Gongheguo Xinfa (中华人民共和国刑法) [Criminal Law of the People's Republic of China] (promulgated by the NPC on 1 July 1979, effective since 1 October 1997, last amended on 26 December 2020), arts 64 and 264.

¹⁷Dannemann (2009), p. 4.

¹⁸Chinese Civil Code, art 122; Birks (2005), p. 11.

¹⁹Chinese Civil Code, art 464.

²⁰Zhang and Guo (2008), p. 12.

²¹Chinese Civil Code, art 235.

²²The 'abstract or casual approach' is about whether a particular legal system separates the validity of the real act to transfer property ownership from the validity of the underlying obligatory contract and whether the validity of the obligatory contract and the validity of the real act affect each other. For a more detailed discussion, see infra, Sect. 3.3.4 in Chap. 3.

²³Exploring the theoretical foundations of the law of unjust enrichment and inspecting what justice demands is a distinct and complicated area. A number of private law theorists have offered discussions of the philosophical foundations of unjust enrichment. e.g. Chambers et al. (2009); Webb (2016); Klimchuk (2004).

and their goal(s) accord with social justice. The scope of this book does not allow for a comprehensive discussion of jurisprudential aspects of related issues.

1.3 Research Contribution

Chinese law does not regulate unjust enrichment in a comprehensive and systematic manner as demonstrated by the fact that there are only a few provisions comprising the whole law of unjust enrichment in the civil code. As demonstrated in the following chapters in this book, such a limited framework is insufficient to provide a workable basis for dealing with various types of unjust enrichment. ²⁴ In addition, comprehensive and deep academic research on the law of unjust enrichment is rare in China. The brevity of the legislation and the lack of proper research leave the Chinese law of unjust enrichment obfuscated and make the determination of the actual status of the law very daunting if not an impossible task. There are divergent views regarding the function, constituent elements and the practical application of the law of unjust enrichment, which has caused serious confusion in the judicial application of related rules and doctrines in China. ²⁵ It is therefore time for a comprehensive study that analyses the status quo and offers systematic guidance for the way forward.

The existing academic research on unjust enrichment in China mainly focuses on the constituent elements of an unjust enrichment claim, the categorizations of unjust enrichment scenarios and the relationships between unjust enrichment claims and other claims. However, academia overlooks the most fundamental question: What is the goal of the law of unjust enrichment? Why do we need a law of unjust enrichment in the first place?

The goals decide the values of the machinery and provide justifications for the need of a certain field of law. With regard to other branches of Chinese private law, the goals and functions are relatively definite. For instance, according to the prevailing opinion, the dominant goal of contract law is to provide an effective and fair regulatory framework for contractual exchange.²⁷ Tort law recognizes compensation for harms as a general duty²⁸ and nobody doubts that wrongdoers who infringe upon the interests of other people without their consent should

 $^{^{24}}$ Problems existing in the current Chinese law of unjust enrichment are discussed in Sect. 4.2 of Chap. 4.

²⁵Cf. Liu (2013), p. 221. Although in comparison to previous regulations, the *Chinese Civil Code* expands provisions of unjust enrichment, some highly controversial issues in practice remain unsettled under the current Chinese law of unjust enrichment. For details, see infra, Sect. 4.2 in Chap. 4.

²⁶For instance, Lou (2012), p. 110; Hong and Zhang (2003), p. 42; Liu (2020b).

²⁷Wang (2011), pp. 107 and 109. The same view is proposed by scholars in other jurisdictions. Steyn (1997), pp. 433 and 434. See also Brownsword (2000), p. 23.

²⁸Wang (2011), pp. 109–110.

compensate the victims. The primary goal of tort law is to provide a mechanism for those who suffer a loss due to another's fault to obtain compensation. ²⁹

Conversely, when discussing the goal(s) of the Chinese law of unjust enrichment, it is easy to lapse into circularity. The law of unjust enrichment aims to reverse benefits transferred without a legal basis because it is unjust to obtain benefits without a legal basis. In other words, unjust enrichment is unjust because no law justifies it.³⁰ The underlying rationale of unjust enrichment is undefined. There is no general duty of disgorgement of enrichments. Specifying the goals is a pre-requisite to understand the nature of a field as a whole and the goals decide what functions a system should have. The goals of the law of unjust enrichment determine the definition and constituent elements of unjust enrichment³¹ and decide how the law of unjust enrichment should be designed. What unjust enrichment is and how to develop the rules of unjust enrichment will remain inaccessible until the goals of the mechanism are clear. It is for these reasons that this study aims to identify the existent goal(s), if any, and the desired goal(s) of the law of unjust enrichment in China.

After having identified the goal(s) of the Chinese law of unjust enrichment, this book explores whether other fields of Chinese law can fulfil these goal(s). This is done in order to assess if there are overlaps, if different areas of law supplement each other and if they can substitute or replace each other. Consequently, this book does not confine its analysis to the very limited statutory provisions of the current law of unjust enrichment but also explores whether the goal(s) of the law of unjust enrichment are or can be achieved via other legislative or judicial tools. By exploring the goals of the law of unjust enrichment in China this study will fill an important gap in the legal literature. More significantly, it will also form the basis for future research and future legislation concerning the law of unjust enrichment in China.

1.4 Research Methodologies

1.4.1 Overview

Three research methodologies are applied in this book, namely doctrinal research, comparative research and case studies. Doctrinal research and comparative research are intertwined and used to explore the Chinese and English laws of unjust enrichment. Case studies focus mostly on the application of the law of unjust enrichment in China with the goal of supplementing the results obtained through the other methods. The different methodologies are explained in more detail in the following.

²⁹Scholars in other jurisdictions also propose the same view. See Robertson (2009), p. 3.

³⁰The circularity problem happens not only in the Chinese law of unjust enrichment, but also in the law of unjust enrichment in common law jurisdictions. Nadler (2008), pp. 245 and 246.

³¹Kull (1995), pp. 1191 and 1193.

1.4.2 Doctrinal Research

First of all, this book engages in doctrinal research to analyze the legal principles underpinning the law of unjust enrichment. Doctrinal research is research in law, also described as research of 'black-letter law', providing a systematic interpretation and analysis of the principles and rules governing a particular legal area as well as their applications.³² It also takes into account the relationships between rules and their status with a particular social context.³³ In addition to legislation and case law, i.e. the primary sources of law, doctrinal research is also concerned with secondary sources, e.g. books, journal articles and written commentaries on the legislation and case law,³⁴ which are examined to facilitate the understanding of legal rules.

In this study, the primary sources explored include the legislation and cases in the chosen jurisdictions, namely China and England, whilst laws in other jurisdictions, both civil law jurisdictions and common law jurisdictions are also considered occasionally where they are relevant. Examples are primary sources of Germany, Japan and Australia. Secondary sources considered for the doctrinal research conducted in the context of this book are books, articles and other commentaries reflecting the opinions—in the first place—of Chinese, but also of other overseas academics and practitioners regarding the law of unjust enrichment and related areas of law. The review of primary and secondary sources aims to understand the Chinese law of unjust enrichment, to explore its goal(s) on the basis of previous studies, and to assess whether its goal(s) can be achieved by other branches of law.

1.4.3 Comparative Research

Comparative legal research involves the exploration of both similarities and discrepancies between different legal systems. Comparative law may serve a number of purposes, including the acquisition of better knowledge of legal rules and institutions and the imitation of foreign legal models for the reform of domestic law. Through exploring and comparing the law of different jurisdictions, it is possible to assess a legal system or systems critically and present a new or at least different perspective in regards to the same discipline of law. As Professor Alan Watson suggests, the vivid practice of borrowing legal rules and institutions from other systems has always been the main motor of legal progress.

³²Hutchinson and Duncan (2012), pp. 83 and 101.

³³Dobinson and Johns (2007), p. 22.

³⁴ Ibid 10

³⁵Reitz (1998), pp. 617 and 620; Dannemann (2006), pp. 384–385.

³⁶Sacco (1991), pp. 1–5; Schlesinger et al. (1988), p. 309.

³⁷Watkins and Burton (2013), pp. 100–101.

³⁸Watson (1993), p. 95.

helpful to a process of legal development when a law in a certain jurisdiction needs modification or amendment.³⁹

This book compares the Chinese law of unjust enrichment with the English law of unjust enrichment for two reasons. First, the English law of unjust enrichment is taken as a benchmark to evaluate the conclusions of the research on the Chinese law of unjust enrichment. Second, the experience of the English law of unjust enrichment seems extremely valuable in order to bring benefits, offer future proposals, and provide warnings of possible difficulties to the Chinese law of unjust enrichment.

The selection of particular jurisdictions for comparative purposes must be methodologically sound. ⁴⁰ Consequently, it must be explained why for this study English law has been chosen to be compared with Chinese law. Three main reasons have determined this selection.

First, although the English law of unjust enrichment is far from free of controversy, in recent decades, it has achieved a strikingly rapid development that may take other areas of law a century to reach. ⁴¹ The English law of unjust enrichment is much more specific and comprehensive compared with the Chinese law of unjust enrichment, thus Chinese law can benefit from this analysis. In other words, as compared with Chinese law the English law of unjust enrichment appears to have reached a higher level of development and can, therefore, 'teach you something'. ⁴²

Second, for every comparative study, it is necessary that the compared legal system has a certain amount of homogeneity, which makes the comparison possible. In other words, comparative legal research should normally not be conducted in totally different legal, social, political and economic contexts. While the Chinese and the English legal systems are obviously very different, both the Chinese and English laws of unjust enrichment are still in a process of development. From this viewpoint, the development experience of the English law of unjust enrichment can provide valuable insights for an assessment of China's situation.

Last, Chinese law is generally regarded as following the civil law legal tradition.⁴⁵ It therefore seems useful to compare the Chinese law of unjust enrichment with the system which is the most prominent representative of the common law legal tradition, i.e. English law. The Chinese law of unjust enrichment follows the

³⁹Palmer (2005), pp. 261, 284.

⁴⁰Cf. Oderkerk (2001), p. 293; also compare Wolff (2018), p. 151; Gallagher et al. (2020), pp. 337 and 339.

⁴¹Dannemann (2009), p. 2.

⁴²Oderkerk (2001), p. 313.

⁴³Sacco (1991), p. 6.

⁴⁴Oderkerk (2001), p. 303.

⁴⁵The statement that China is a civil law country is not free from controversy and some may assert that China's legal system is hybridized in nature or is a 'socialist system with Chinese characteristics' as proclaimed by itself. However, in terms of the fundamental distinguishing elements between civil law jurisdictions and common law jurisdictions, China is a civil law country. Chinese law and regulations are made by its legislative and administrative branches, which do not originate with judicial decisions made by courts over time. See Wan (2012), ch 9.

'absence of basis' approach to ascertain whether a defendant's retention of an enrichment is unjust. ⁴⁶ This approach is adopted by most civilian and mixed legal systems. In contrast, English law adopts the 'unjust factors' approach, viewing unjust enrichment from a different perspective. ⁴⁷ Selecting English law for comparative purposes, therefore, allows us to benchmark Chinese law against an (extreme) different position for testing purposes and may provide greater insights.

Having explained the reasons for selecting English law for the comparative purposes of this study, it must also be acknowledged that many other legal systems could have been chosen for the same purposes. However, this study does not focus on the comparative analysis of English law, but rather uses the comparison with English law to refine the analysis of Chinese law. While this and the limited scope of this study explain why (only) English law is selected for the said benchmarking purposes, the resulting limits of the comparative assessment are duly acknowledged.

This book engages in comparative research from three perspectives: history, doctrine, and function. It is not possible to learn from a foreign institution without understanding its history. In particular, the English law of unjust enrichment is the product of a complicated history that has an ongoing impact. This book will examine the history of unjust enrichment in China and England. This book will also map out the current doctrines of unjust enrichment in Chinese law and English law and discuss the similarities and differences of the laws. The functional approach is the most important one. Zweigert and Kötz assert that 'The basic methodological principle of all comparative law is that of functionality' because 'in law the only things which are comparable are those which fulfil the same function'. As outlined above, the focus of this book is to explore the goal(s) of the Chinese law of unjust enrichment and to see whether, given the goal(s), other branches of law within the system can achieve those goal(s). For this purpose, it analyzes the functions of the law of unjust enrichment in China and in England. In other words, the analysis of functionality stands at the core of this study.

1.4.4 Cases Studies

This book also employs case studies looking into the judicial practice in China to supplement the doctrinal and comparative analyses. The case studies are meant to offer an understanding of how the rules work in practice which the analysis of legal rules cannot provide.

⁴⁶Chinese Civil Code, art 122.

⁴⁷Banque Financière de la Cité v Parc (Battersea) Ltd [1999] 1 AC 221 (HL) 234. See infra, Sect. 5.5 in Chap. 5.

⁴⁸Zweigert and Kötz (1998), p. 34.

⁴⁹Supra, Sect. 1.2 in this chapter.

1.5 Book Structure 11

The exploration into the decision-making of Chinese courts not only examines the judges' attitudes toward the goal(s) of the Chinese law of unjust enrichment but also reflects the problems, if any, existing in the application of the rules. The case studies can show in what kind of cases a claimant may raise a claim in unjust enrichment and whether a court may support his or her claim or not based on what kind of reasons.

Due to the limited scope of this research, only ten judgments delivered by courts in Beijing have been identified as case studies and analyzed. The study is conducted by employing an authoritative and also widely used database, Bei Da Fa Bao, also known as PKU Law. ⁵⁰ The cases have been read and analyzed with the following research questions in mind:

- (1) What are the grounds proposed by the claimant to argue that the defendant's receipt of enrichment lacked a legal basis, such as an invalid contract?
- (2) Could a different cause of action have been used instead of 'unjust enrichment'?
- (3) What are the circumstances under which the court supported the claim in unjust enrichment?
- (4) How did the judges interpret the law of unjust enrichment in China?
- (5) Are the judges' applications of the law of unjust enrichment consistent with the goals of the law of unjust enrichment identified in this study?

It is important to note that the case studies conducted for the purpose of this book do not aim at finding empirical truth. The case studies are rather meant to supplement the doctrinal and comparative analysis which stand at the centre of this book.

1.5 Book Structure

This book is structured as follows: This chapter first introduces the general concept of unjust enrichment, the regulations about unjust enrichment in China, the reasons why the goals of the law of unjust enrichment need to be explored and the methodologies used in this study.

Chapter 2 clarifies terminology. As the law of unjust enrichment is a controversial area of law, different terminologies have been used in this field representing different and identical or at least similar conceptual approaches. To allow for a focused discussion and to avoid confusion, these terminological differences and similarities first need to be identified so as to develop a terminological framework for this book.

Chapter 3 discusses the goal(s) of the law of unjust enrichment in China. First, a general introduction to the history and development of the Chinese legal system, private law, and the law of unjust enrichment is given. Then the current goal(s) of the law of unjust enrichment are explored through three perspectives, namely statutory rules, the opinions of commentators, and judgments made by courts. If there are

⁵⁰Bei Da Fa Bao (北大法宝) (Pkulaw), online: Pkulaw < http://www.pkulaw.cn/>.

explicit goal(s) of the law of unjust enrichment, the question that whether the goal (s) are appropriate for China's situation or not are to be assessed.

Chapter 4 first discusses the problems caused by the deficient regulation of unjust enrichment in China. It then focuses on the question of whether the goal(s) of the Chinese law of unjust enrichment identified in Chap. 3 can be achieved by other branches of law through the analysis of hypothesized scenarios. This question is important because an affirmative answer to this question means that one may have to conclude that China does not really need a law of unjust enrichment.

Chapter 5 focuses on the English law of unjust enrichment. A brief introduction to the English legal system is given to set the scene with a focus on the history of the English law of unjust enrichment. This chapter then discusses the constituent elements of unjust enrichment and restitutionary remedies, the status of the law of unjust enrichment in private law, and the interrelationships of unjust enrichment with other branches of law in the English legal system. On the basis of a broad literature review, this chapter then explores the goals of the English law of unjust enrichment. It concludes by benchmarking the Chinese law of unjust enrichment against English law.

Chapter 6 imports ideas acquired by way of the assessment of English law to Chinese law and makes proposals for legislative action in China. Chapter 7 summarizes the findings and concludes with general final remarks.

Cases

Banque Financière de la Cité v Parc (Battersea) Ltd [1999] 1 AC 221 (HL) Garland v Consumer's Gas Co., [2004] 1 SCR 629

References

Books, Book Chapters, Articles, Websites and Blogs

Birks P (2005) Unjust enrichment, 2nd edn. Oxford University Press

Brownsword R (2000) Contract law: themes for the twenty-first century. Butterworths

Burrows A (2004) The English law of restitution: a ten-year review. In: Neyers JW, McInnes M, Pitel SGA (eds) Understanding unjust enrichment. Hart Publishing

Burrows A (2012) A restatement of the English law of unjust enrichment. Oxford University Press Chambers R, Mitchell C, Penner J (eds) (2009) Philosophical foundations of the law of unjust enrichment. Oxford University Press

Chen Z (2020) Bu Dang De Li Fa Tixi Zhi Zai Goucheng – Weirao Minfa Dian Zhankai [The reorganization of the system of the law of unjust enrichment – a discussion surrounding the Chinese Civil Code]. North Leg Sci 5:5

Dannemann G (2006) Comparative law: study of similarities or difference? In: Reimann M, Zimmermann R (eds) The Oxford handbook of comparative law. Oxford University Press

References 13

Dannemann G (2009) The German law of unjustified enrichment and restitution: a comparative introduction. Oxford University Press

- Dobinson I, Johns F (2007) Qualitative legal research. In: McConville M, Chui WH (eds) Research methods for law. Edinburgh University Press
- Gallagher S, Lin S, Wolff L-C (2020) The history of a mystery: the evolution of the law of unjust enrichment in Germany, England and China. Int Comp Policy Ethics Law Rev 3(2):337
- Goff R, Jones G (1966) The law of restitution, 1st edn. Sweet & Maxwell
- Hong X, Zhang L (2003) Bu Dang De Li Fanhuan Qingqiu Quan Yu Qita Qingqiu Quan De Jinghe Yanjiu [Research on the concurrent relationship between the unjust enrichment claim and other claims]. Mod Law Sci 5:42
- Huo Z (2006) Zhongguo Bu Dang De Li Zhidu De Goujian Yu Wanshan Yi Bijiao Fa Wei Shijiao [The establishment and improvement of the Chinese law of unjust enrichment a comparative law perspective]. Seeking Truth 2:83
- Hutchinson T, Duncan N (2012) Defining and describing what we do: doctrinal legal research. Deakin Law Rev 17:83
- Jiang P (ed) (2011) Minfa Xue [The civil law theory], 2nd edn. China University of Political Science and Law Press
- Johnston D, Zimmermann R (2002) Unjustified enrichment: surveying the landscape. In: Johnston D, Zimmermann R (eds) Unjustified enrichment: key issues in comparative perspective. Cambridge University Press
- Klimchuk D (2004) Unjust enrichment and corrective justice. In: Neyers JW, McInnes M, Pitel SGA (eds) Understanding unjust enrichment. Hart Publishing
- Kull A (1995) Rationalizing restitution. Calif Law Rev 83:1191
- Liu Y (2013) Bu Dang De Li Fa De Xingcheng Yu Zhankai [The formation and development of the law of unjustified enrichment]. Law Press
- Liu S (2020a) Minfa Dian Bu Dang De Li Qingqiuquan De Dingwei ji Xiangguan Susong Wenti [The position of claims in unjust enrichment in the Chinese Civil Code and relevant litigation issues]. Natl Judges College Law J 19:26
- Liu D (ed) (2020b) Zhongguo Minfadian De Dansheng! [The birth of the Chinese Civil Code]. http://www.npc.gov.cn/npc/c30834/202005/1247ca1d376e47e9b02a3053dd438e2d. shtml. Accessed 21 Sept 2021
- Lou A (2012) Bu Dang De Li "Meiyou Hefa Genju" Zhi Gainian Chengqing- Geiyu "Jifu" Gainian De Zhongguo Fa Chongshi [Clarification of the concept 'Without a Legal Basis' of unjust enrichment- providing the concept of 'Performance' with an interpretation in the context of Chinese Lawl. Sci Law (J Northwest Univ Polit Sci Law) 6:110
- Nadler JM (2008) What right does unjust enrichment law protect? Oxf J Leg Stud 2:245
- Oderkerk M (2001) The importance of context: selecting legal systems in comparative legal research. Netherlands Int Law Rev 48:293
- Palmer V (2005) From Lerotholi to Lando: some examples of comparative law methodology. Am J Comp Law 53:261
- Reitz JC (1998) How to do comparative law. Am J Comp Law 46:617
- Robertson A (2009) Introduction: goals, rights and obligations. In: Robertson A, Wu TH (eds) The goals of private law. Hart Publishing
- Sacco R (1991) Legal formants: a dynamic approach to comparative law (installment I of II). Am J Comp Law 39:1
- Schlesinger R et al (1988) Comparative law: cases, text, materials, 5th edn. Foundation Press
- Steyn J (1997) Contract law: fulfilling the reasonable expectations of honest men. Law Q Rev 113: 433
- Tang C (2013) Deguo Bu Dang De Li Fa De Gouzao Yu Zhongguo Bu Dang De Li Fa De Wanshan [The structure of the Geman law of unjust enrichment and the perfection of the Chinese law of unjust enrichment]. Beihang Law Rev 1:128
- Virgo G (1999) The principles of the law of restitution. Oxford University Press

Wan M (ed) (2012) Reading the legal cases: cross-currents between law and the humanities. Cavendish Publishing

- Wang L (2011) Qinquan Zeren Fa Yu Hetong Fa De Jiefen Yi Qinquan Zeren Fa De Kuozhang Wei Shiye [The distinction between tort liability law and contract law from the perspective of the expansion of the tort liability law]. China Leg Sci 3:107
- Wang D (2020) Minfa Dian Zhong Bu Dang De Li De Lifa Jiedu He Sifa Shiyong [Legislative interpretation and judicial application of the law of unjust enrichment in the Chinese Civil Code]. Chin Procurators 15:51
- Watkins D, Burton M (2013) Research methods in law. Cavendish Publishing
- Watson A (1993) Legal transplants: an approach to comparative law, 2nd edn. University of Georgia Press
- Webb C (2016) Reason and restitution: a theory of unjust enrichment. Oxford University Press
- Wei Z (ed) (2007) Minfa [Civil law]. Peking University Press
- Winfield PH (1931) The province of the law of tort. Cambridge University Press, p 118
- Wolff L-C (2018) Comparing Chinese law . . . but, with which legal systems? Chin J Comp Law 6: 151
- Zhang X, Guo M (2008) Qinquan Zeren Qingqiu Quan Yu Zhaiquan De Guanxi [The relationship between tort liability claims and obligatory claims]. In: Yi J (ed) Si Fa [Private law]. Huazhong University of Science and Technology Press
- Zweigert K, Kötz H (1998) An introduction to comparative law (trans: Weir T), 3rd edn. Oxford University Press

Chapter 2 Terminology



2.1 General

The law of unjust enrichment is surrounded by intense controversy. There is not even agreement in relation to the most basic terminology. In fact, a great variety of terms and concepts in this field are rife with academic debates. The terms 'restitution' and 'unjust enrichment' have been competing with each other to provide the generic name for this area of law for several decades. The terminological confusion has bedevilled this area. To facilitate the study of the law of unjust enrichment, it is necessary to develop a terminological framework with the ultimate goal to allow for a discussion of the same issues by using the same language. This chapter, therefore, seeks to define the legal terms in this area of law and thus to establish a terminological framework. The purpose is not only to ensure terminological consistency throughout this book and to help readers understand my starting premises, but also to facilitate any future discussion in this area. The purpose is not only to ensure terminological consistency throughout this book and to help readers understand my starting premises, but also to facilitate any future discussion in this area.

This chapter first deals with two core terms: 'restitution' and 'unjust enrichment'. The meaning of the two words, their nature and the relationships between restitution and unjust enrichment are established. In addition, related terms having vague meanings are also explored, e.g. benefit, enrichment and disgorgement.

¹For example, Peter Birks based the law of restitution totally on the principle of unjust enrichment in his book *An Introduction to the Law of Restitution* published in 1985 but rejected to name the area the law of unjust enrichment for a fear of uncertainty of the word 'unjust'. However, later he made a few recantations to his own work and claimed that the law of unjust enrichment should be separated from the law of restitution and that it is never correct to say that restitution was squarely based on the law of unjust enrichment. Birks (1985a); Birks (1998); Birks (1999), p. 13; Birks (2005).

²Kull (1995), p. 1191.

³Many scholars have explained the reasons why using legal terms in a consistent manner is important. For instance, Fullagar (1957), p. 1. Gutteridge emphasized the importance of the consistency of legal terminology in the field of comparative law. Gutteridge (1938), p. 401.

16 2 Terminology

Although the focus of this book is on the law of unjust enrichment in China, the establishment of a terminological framework has to refer to English literature because this book is written in English. The work of scholars who worked on the English law of unjust enrichment is taken for references, including Peter Birks, Robert Goff, Gareth Jones, and Andrew Burrows last but not least because this book selects English law to be the comparative benchmark for the assessment of the current situation. They are prominent common law scholars who have made their name in the area of the law of unjust enrichment and restitution and have contributed greatly to shape the subject. Although their definitions differ on certain points and there may be divergent voices propounded by other scholars, they still represent the most widely accepted definitions in the common law world.

2.2 Unjust Enrichment and Restitution

2.2.1 Overview

Due to historical reasons, 'the law of restitution' is a better-known name than 'the law of unjust enrichment'. In 1936, the *Restatement of the Law of Restitution: Quasi Contracts and Constructive Trusts* ('US Restatement') was published by the American Law Institute as the first book on the modern law of restitution. In 1966, the first edition of *Goff & Jones: The Law of Restitution* was published, which was the English response to the *US Restatement*. Both the *US Restatement* and *Goff & Jones: The Law of Restitution* unequivocally stated that the law of restitution was established on the principle of unjust enrichment. The two books were both significant achievements and their choice of naming this area as 'the law of restitution' was also emulated by many other scholars. However, in more recent works, 'unjust enrichment' prevails in naming this field of law. Peter Birks provided the

⁴ American Law Institute (1936). Warren A Seavey and Austin W Scott served as reporters for this project.

⁵Goff and Jones (1966).

⁶Seavey and Scott (n 4), p. 1. The first article of the *US Restatement* provides immediately, 'A person who has been unjustly enriched at the expense of another is required to make restitution to another', which shows that the subject of this *US Restatement* is actually the law of unjust enrichment. *Goff & Jones* is also opened with the sentence that 'The law of restitution is the law relating to all claims, quasi-contractual or otherwise, which are founded on the principle of unjust enrichment'. Ibid 3.

⁷E.g. Birks (1985a); Hedley (2001); Virgo (1999); Burrows (2002).

⁸Peter Birks made a recantation, using the title 'the law of unjust enrichment' instead of 'the law of restitution' in his works. Birks (1985b). The third edition of the *US Restatement* was published in July 2010 and renamed as *Restatement (Third) of Restitution and Unjust Enrichment*. American Law Institute (2010). The newly published edition of *The Law of Restitution* by Goff and Jones is renamed as *Goff & Jones: The Law of Unjust Enrichment* in 2011. Mitchell et al. (2011) [*Goff & Jones on Unjust Enrichment 2011*]; Andrew Burrows who wrote a book *The Law of Restitution*,

reason for this trend by explaining that other groups of the law of obligation, i.e. contract law and tort law, are named after the causative events rather than the remedy, and so should the law of unjust enrichment. In fact, the law of restitution and the law of unjust enrichment do not refer to the same areas of law as further explained in the later section. In

2.2.2 Unjust Enrichment

It is generally acknowledged that unjust enrichment refers to a causative event that comprises of facts and causes the existence of rights, which can be realized in court and is parallel to a contract and a tort. This book focuses on the law of unjust enrichment in China and also discusses the English law of unjust enrichment for comparison. In the context of Chinese law, unjust enrichment refers to an event where a person is enriched without a legal basis resulting in another person's loss. In the context of English law, unjust enrichment refers to a situation where a person is unjustly enriched at the expense of another with the presence of an unjust factor.

It is noteworthy that in this book the term 'unjust enrichment' is referred to in the phrases of 'reversing unjust enrichment' or 'the return of unjust enrichment' occasionally. In such contexts, 'unjust enrichment' does not mean the event where a person is unjustly enriched but refers to the benefits acquired in unjust enrichment cases.

published *A Restatement of the English Law of Unjust Enrichment* in 2012 as well. Burrows (2002); Burrows (2012).

⁹Birks (2003), p. 1, 20. Birks proposes that it is inelegant to categorize the law by contract, tort and restitution because the law should be categorized by events rather than responses. In addition, the most distinguishing feature within the law of restitution is the principle of unjust enrichment. By admitting restitution can be trigger by events other than unjust enrichment, restitution fails to identify a discrete body of law. Birks (1985b), p. 1, 283.

¹⁰Infra, Sect. 2.2.4 in this chapter.

¹¹Birks (1985b), p. 20; Mitchell (2011), p. 4.

¹²Chinese Civil Code, art 122.

¹³ Banque Financière de la Cité v Parc (Battersea) Ltd [1999] 1 AC 221 (HL) 227 (Lord Steyn), 234 (Lord Hoffmann). The Chinese and English laws of unjust enrichment follow two divergent approaches, the 'absence of basis' approach and 'unjust factors' approach, which are discussed in Chaps. 3 and 5 in detail respectively.